IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EDUCATION FREEDOM PAC,

Appellant,

vs.

RORY REID, AN INDIVIDUAL; BEVERLY ROGERS, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND BARBARA K. CEVASKE, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACTY AS NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE, Respondents. Electronically Filed Jul 08 2022 06:32 p.m. Supreme Coufficate MoA8 Brown District Colorit Color Court 220C000271B

APPEAL FROM ORDER OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CARSON CITY, NV

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
II. ROUTING STATEMENT
III. ISSUES PRESENTED
IV. INTRODUCTION
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VI. BACKGROUND
A. Statement of the Facts and Statement of the Case5
1. Education Freedom PAC lawfully filed its Initiative Petitions5
2. Reid/Rodgers Challenge the Initiative7
a. Respondents intentionally delayed the district court's ability to
consider the Initiative Petitions—denying Education Freedom PAC its
due process and using strategy to deny voters the right to vote7
b. The Parties briefed the issue before the district court before a
hearing
3. The district court incorrectly invalidated the petition10
VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW
VIII. ARGUMENT
A. Nevada voters are entitled to determine whether the Ballot
measure is a good idea, not a district court
B. The district court incorrectly determined the description was vague
and incomplete

1. The Description for the Petition was sufficient as a matter of law. 14

The district court erred when it determined the Petition was unclear, erroneously concluding the Description failed to discuss potential policy ramifications.
The district court incorrectly determined the Petition is an unfunded mandate because it does not make an appropriation or expend money.
The district Court incorrectly determined the Petition overreaches by taking administrative action
CONCLUSION.
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE.
28

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Education Freedom PAC v. Reid, et al., 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 47 at *13-14,
Case No. 84736 (June 28, 2022)
Education Initiative PAC. 129 Nev. at 37, 293 P.3d at 87616, 19, 21
<i>Farley v. Healey</i> , 431 P.2d 650, 652 (Cal. 1967)12, 13
Helton v. Nevada Voters First PAC, et al., 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 45 (June 28,
2022)
Herbst Gaming Inc. v. Heller. Id. at 176
Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council of Cit of Las
Vegas, 125 Nev. 165, 176, 208 P.3d 429, 436 (2009)13, 17
Nevada for the Protection of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev 894, 913,
141 P.3d 1235, 1248 (2006)25
Nevada Judges Assn. v. Lau, 112 Nev. 51, 57, 910 P.2d 898, 902 (1996)4
<i>Prevent Sanctuary Cities</i> , 2018 WL 2272955, at *213
Rogers v. Heller, 117 Nev. 169, 173, 18 P.3d 1034, 1036 (2001)23
Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev. 732, 739, 382 P.3d 886, 891 (2016)14, 24
<i>Train Trench</i> , 52 P.3d at 393-9425
Statutes
NRS 293.252(1)
NRS 295.061(2)7
NRS 3856
Other Authorities
SB 302 (2015)24, 25
Rules
NRAP 3A(b)(1)

NRAP 3A(b)(3)
N.R.A.P. 4(a)(1)
NRAP 17(a)(3)1
NRAP 17(a)(12)
NRAP 26.1(a) ii
NRAP 28(e)(1
NRAP 32(a)(4)
NRAP 32(a)(5)
NRAP 32(a)(6)
NRAP 32(a)(7)
NRAP 32(a)(7)(C)
Constitutional Provisions
Nev. Const. art. 19, § 62, 4, 9, 11, 22
Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(1)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appellant, EDUCATION FREEDOM PAC hereby files this Opening Brief.

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court, and pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) because it is an appeal from an order granting an injunction.

The final order was entered on April 12, 2022. The Second order was entered on April 26, 2022. Notice of entry of the order was served on May 4, 2022. The notice of appeal was filed on May 19, 2022. This appeal is timely because it was filed within 30 days after the entry of the final judgment as NRAP 4(a)(1) requires.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court: (1) pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(3) because it is a case involving a ballot or election issue; and (2) pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) because there is an issue of first impression. The district court concluded that Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution applies to constitutional amendments, as well as statutes and statutory amendments. There is no opinion of this Court with a holding that supports this conclusion.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Education Freedom PAC's Description of Effect is a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve and how it intends to reach those goals?

2. Whether the district court erred in requiring Education Freedom PAC's Description of Effect to contain subjective, argumentative language?

3. Whether the Initiative Petition requires a funding source, when funding is not a mandate by the Petition?

4. Whether, as is the case with many other provisions of the Nevada Constitution, a Constitutional Amendment can force the Legislature to act?

5. Whether the Petition includes administrative details or is a policy directive?

IV. INTRODUCTION

This case is about a district court's outcome driven rejection of a lawfully compliant Initiative Petition for a Statutory amendment. The district court erred for multiple reasons. First, the district court erred when it evaluated its own subjective policy conclusion over Nevada's liberal standard for Initiative Petitions. Second, the district court erred when it determined the description was vague and incomplete, even though the description was straightforward, succinct, and non-argumentative. Third, the district court erred when it concluded that the Petition contains an unfunded mandate, when it expressly states that the Legislature is not required to fund the program and that it is ineffective until it is funded. Fourth, the district court erred when it concluded the Petition is not a policy directive, but an administrative directive, because there is not currently a policy implementing or enacting the Petition.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Initiative Petitions is much different than the one decided in *Education Freedom PAC v. Reid, et al., I.* Rather than creating a Constitutional mandate that this Court determined would require an expenditure of funds, and therefore violate the Constitution's preclusion on unfunded mandates, this Petition expressly does not allocate or authorize funding without future legislative action. In so doing, this Petition avoids Article 19, Section 6's prohibition on Petitions that require expenditures. Likewise, the Description of Effect does not succumb to concerns in the parallel case. Here, the description is non-argumentative. It is not subjective. It tells the reader that the Petition will create Education Freedom Accounts and how they will be

administered. Because it does not mandate funding, it does not trigger the unintended consequences this Court was concerned about.

This Court is presented with a well-throughout and articulated Description of Effect for a Petition that does not require funding and adheres to its requirement that policy be at the forefront of Petitions, not administrative details. The district court elevated its opinion over this Court's precedent, removing the citizens' right to evaluate the proposal and choose to vote yes or no. When placing limits on initiative petitions, Nevada courts should never "judge the wisdom of a proposed initiative; such policy choices are solely for the voters." Nevada Judges Assn. v. Lau, 112 Nev. 51, 57, 910 P.2d 898, 902 (1996). The people alone own "the power to propose, by initiative petition . . amendments to [the] Constitution, and to enact or reject them at the polls." Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(1). Because the right to change our Constitution is fundamental to our democratic system, Nevada courts must "make every effort to sustain and preserve the people's constitutional rights to amend their constitution through the initiative process." Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. *Rights, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 894, 912, 141 P.3d 1235, 1247 (2006).

The district court disregarded settled Nevada law. Because it speculated that the Petition would result in a bad outcome, it struck down the Petition

since the Description did not tell the voters the Petition might be a bad idea to some people. This Court should lift the injunction and allow the Petition to proceed to the ballot.

VI. BACKGROUND

This appeal involves an Initiative Petition seeking a Statutory Amendment.

A. Statement of the Facts and Statement of the Case

1. Education Freedom PAC lawfully filed its Initiative Petitions

Education Freedom PAC is an organization committed to improving education in Nevada by providing access to educational opportunities Nevada students and parents otherwise would not have. It properly filed an Initiative Petition with the Nevada Secretary of State's Office on January 31, 2022, seeking a statutory amendment that would authorizes the establishment of accounts for a child's education in Nevada. 1 AA 48-66. If enacted, the Petition would authorize parents to spend money in the account for educational expenses. *Id.* The Petition does not obligate the State to expend any money because it does not contain an appropriation or require the State to expend funds, rather, it allows the Legislature to eventually allocate funding if it so decides. *Id.* at. 66. The Petition proposes amending NRS Chapter 385 to add multiple sections. It is a relatively lengthy proposal, so the changes are not quoted verbatim in this Brief. The Petition includes the following Description of Effect:

> The Petition establishes an education freedom account program under which parents will be authorized to establish an account for their child's education. The parent of any child required to attend public school who has been enrolled in a public school in Nevada during the entirety of the immediately preceding school year or whose child is eligible to enroll in kindergarten may establish an account for the child. Money in the accounts may be used to pay certain educational expenses including, but not limited to, tuition and fees at participating entities. Participating entities may include eligible private schools, a program of distance education not operated by a public school and parents, among others.

> The maximum available grant is 90 percent of the statewide base per pupil funding amount. For Fiscal year 2021-2022, that amount is \$6,980 per pupil. For Fiscal Year 2022-2023, that amount is \$7,074 per pupil. That said, nothing in this initiative requires the Legislature to appropriate money to fund these accounts. If no money is appropriated, no funding will be available for the accounts. Funding the accounts, however, could necessitate a tax increase or reduction of government services.

Id. at 67.

2. Reid/Rodgers Challenge the Initiative

a. Respondents intentionally delayed the district court's ability to consider the Initiative Petitions denying Education Freedom PAC its due process and using strategy to deny voters the right to vote.

Under statute, a party challenging an Initiative Petition has a set number of days to file a challenge. *See* NRS 295.061(2). Respondents took multiple actions before the district court to intentionally delay a court ruling. First, they waited until the last possible day to challenge the Petition. And on that last day—February 22, 2022—Respondents, Rory Reid and Beverly Rogers, filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief against the Nevada Secretary of State that challenged the initiative petition under NRS 295.061(1). 1 JA 1-13. But Respondents failed to properly name Education Freedom PAC as a defendant, which caused unnecessary delay, forcing Education Freedom PAC to seek court approved intervention. *Id.* at 162.

Third, Respondents filed an unnecessary peremptory challenge. *Id.* at 148. The case was assigned to Judge Wilson due to a conflict for Judge Russell, *id.* at 70, however, Respondents recused Judge Wilson, *id.* The case was eventually assigned to Senior Judge McGee, *id.* Because of Respondents delays in district court, the lower court could not hold a hearing within 15 days as required under NRS 295.061(1).

b. The Parties briefed the issue before the district court before a hearing.

Accompanying Respondents filing was a memorandum and points of authorities in support of its complaint. *Id.* at 37-47. Respondents made three arguments. First, they argued that the Petition's Description of Effect is misleading and does not give voters an opportunity for an informed decision—applying a rigid reading of the Description more akin to statutory interpretation. *Id.* at 42-44. Second, they argued that the Petition is an unfunded mandate, claiming that it violates the Nevada Constitution. *Id.* at 44-46. And third, they argued that the Petition improperly includes administrative details. *Id.* at 46.

Education Freedom PAC filed its answering brief March 15, 2022. *Id.* at 85-103. It argued, first that the district court's failure to hold a hearing in the time required under NRS 295.061—at the fault of Respondents— prejudiced Education Freedom PAC and required the district court to dismiss the Complaint. *Id.* 88-89. Second, the description was not misleading or confusing. Education Freedom PAC argued extensively that Nevada law does not require the absurd level of subjective arguments that Respondents seek, including Respondent's proposed requirement that the Description include hypothetical and non-existent effects, especially considering it has merely 200

words available to write the Description. *Id.* at 90-96. Third, it argued the Petition does not violate Article 19, Section 6 because it is not an unfunded mandate. *Id.* at 96-99. The Petition does not require a disbursement of funds or mandate the Legislature fund anything. *Id.* Fourth, it argued that, at worst, the Court could amend the Description of Effect if the court determined it was inadequate. *Id.* at 99. Finally, it argued the Petition does not include administrative details because it does not execute policies or laws that were previously enacted; rather, it is allows the Legislature to adopt a policy that is lawful. *Id.* at 99-102.

Education Freedom PAC also attached a proposed amended Description of Effect that addressed several the concerns identified by Respondents in their challenge to the Petition. *See Id.* at 129. This Amended Description removed reference to the language that Respondents claim disputes the ability of a parent to create a savings account for his or her children's education, clarifies further limits in the Petition on the use of funds, and magnifies the requirement the Legislature has the final prerogative to fund the Accounts. *Id.*

The Secretary of State filed a limited response on March 24, 2022. *Id.* at 151-52. It effectively stated a position of neutrality.

Respondents filed a reply on March 25, 2022. *Id.* at 154-60. They argued that their complaint complied with the requirements of NRS 295.061 and that the 15-day timeline is directory, not mandatory, therefore does not warrant dismissal. *Id.* at 156. Further, they argued the description was inaccurate because it fails to tell signatories that students could be precluded from attending a public school, something Education Freedom PAC disputes. *Id.* at 156. It argued the Legislative power of the purse precludes the initiative. *Id.* at 158-59. And finally, it argued the policy proposal contained too many administrative details to be considered solely policy. *Id.* at 160.

The district court heard the matter on March 29, 2022.¹

3. The district court incorrectly invalidated the petition.

The district court issued its order titled: "Part A: Decision Invalidating Petition to Create a Statute to Govern Future Appropriations to An Education System Outside the School District" and "Part B: Injunction Preventing the Forward Progress of this Initiative." *Id.* 167-181. The district court, initially, commented that the statute was long and arduous to read and was critical of how detailed the proposal was. *Id.* at 169.

¹At the time of this filing, the transcripts have not yet been produced. Appellant is working swiftly to acquire the transcripts and will supplement the record when they are available.

In issuing its ruling, the district court concluded that Article 19, Section 6 precludes statutory amendments that even contemplate future expenditures may occur. *Id.* at 174. Simultaneously, the district court concluded, correctly, that the amendment does not require funding. *Id.* ("It says nothing about the right or latitude to postpone funding to a date out in the future, which will require forging yet another statute".).

The district made multiple incorrect legal conclusions. First, it concluded that any Petition *must* be tied to a revenue source, regardless of whether it required funding. *Id.* at 175-76. Second, it concluded any administrative criteria precluded the Petition under *Herbst. Id.* at 176. And created, it concluded there is a higher level of scrutiny for Petitions when there is an issue of public importance. *Id.* at 175-79.

The district court did not allow an amendment to the Petition because it concluded there were too many errors in the Petition's description and the Petition itself to resolve. *Id.* at 179-81.

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Efforts to impede the voters' initiative power is contrary "to the democratic process." *Farley v. Healey*, 431 P.2d 650, 652 (1967). This Court reviews de novo a district court's order granting injunctive and declaratory

relief. *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. 35, 41, 293 P.3d 874, 878 (2013).

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. Nevada voters are entitled to determine whether the Ballot measure is a good idea, not a district court.

A party seeking to invalidate a petition must make a "compelling showing" that the measure is "clearly invalid." *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council of City of Las Vegas*, 125 Nev. 165, 176, 208 P.3d 429, 436 (2009) (hereinafter "*LVTAC*"). This is for good reason— "[p]lacing the burden on the challenger ensures that the 'power of initiative [is] liberally construed to promote the democratic process." *Prevent Sanctuary Cities*, 2018 WL 2272955, at *2 (quoting *Farley v. Healey*, 431 P.2d 650, 652 (Cal. 1967)).

The district court failed to apply this high standard. In fact, it created a new standard that implied a higher level of scrutiny for Petitions when there are issues of "public importance." *Id.* at 178. But all Petitions involved issues of public importance, so it makes little sense to adopt a higher standard. This standard does not exist in *Schwartz*. Nevada law requires that the district court have presumed the petition valid and for Respondents to have showed

compellingly that it was invalid. Respondents failed their burden in district court.

B. The district court incorrectly determined the description was vague and incomplete.

Education Freedom PAC provided a straightforward and nonargumentative description of the Petition and its intended effect. The district court erred by treating this description as the argument required for the ballot. Because it concluded the Petition was a bad idea, it demanded the Petition include a description that explained the district court judge's policy preference. It concluded there was "insufficient explanation of the affect of the initiative on the budgets of all schools." *Id.* at 5.

The seminal case on the adequacy of a Description of Effect is *Education Initiative PAC v. Community to Protect Nevada Jobs*, 129 Nev 35, 293 P.3d 874 (2013). There, the Court outlined the following standard:

A description of effect serves a limited purpose to facilitate the initiative process, and to that end, it must be a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve and how it intends to reach those goals. Given that limited purpose and the 200-word restriction, the description of effect cannot constitutionally be required to delineate every effect that an initiative will have; to conclude otherwise could obstruct, rather than facilitate, the people's right to the initiative process. In reviewing an initiative's description of effect, a district court should assess whether the description contains a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative statement of what the initiative will accomplish and how it will achieve those goals.

129 Nev. at 37, 293 P.3d at 876. When reviewing a Description, "it is inappropriate to parse the meanings of words and phrases used in a description of effect" as a court would when reviewing a statute. *Id.* at 48, 293 P. 3d at 883. A rigid approach to reading descriptions of effect "carr[y] the risk of depriving the people of Nevada of their constitutional rights to propose laws by initiative." *Id.* A holistic approach is the preferred analysis. *Id.* This Court reaffirmed this standard in *Education Freedom PAC v. Reid, et al.*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 47 at *13-14, Case No. 84736 (June 28, 2022) and *Helton v. Nevada Voters First PAC, et al.*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 45 (June 28, 2022).

1. The Description for the Petition was sufficient as a matter of law.

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