In the Supreme Court of the State of Revada

Jul 18 2022 04:51 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

EDUCATION FREEDOM PAC, a Nevada committee for political action,

Appellant,

VS.

BEVERLY ROGERS, an individual; RORY REID, an individual, and BARBARA CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

Case No.: 84735

First Judicial District Court Case No.: 22 OC 00027 1B

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

BRADLEY S. SCHRAGER, ESQ. (NSB 10217) JOHN SAMBERG, ESQ. (NSB 10828) DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ. (NSB 13078)

WOLF, RIFKIN, SHAPIRO, SCHULMAN & RABKIN, LLP

3773 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 590 South Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

I. INTRODUCTION

The district court, again, had it exactly correct in this matter. For multiple reasons, Appellant's ("Education Freedom PAC," or "EFP") initiative petition S-02-2022 (the "Petition") falls short of legal requirements, and cannot go forward. The Petition's description of effect is invalid because it is confusing, misleading, and omits discussion of significant ramifications, violation of its most in of many NRS 295.009(1)(b) and this Court's jurisprudence interpreting the same. Secondly, the Petition is invalid because it mandates legislative appropriations without providing reciprocal revenues, in violation of Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution. Lastly, the Petition improperly seeks to dictate a host of administrative details—22 pages worth—rendering the Petition invalid. For all these reasons, as described and ordered by the district court, the decision below should be affirmed.

II. ARGUMENT

EFP's legal arguments are mere legal conclusions, and should not affect the ruling of the district court in this matter. The substance of the district court's decision was correct and its rulings were proper.

A. There Is No Presumption of The Petition's Validity

EFP has the strange notion that there is some presumption at law that the Petition (and its description of effect) is valid. No such presumption exists. Standards for whether a particular initiative petition is legally sufficient—whether its description is lawful, or whether it impermissibly treats more than one subject—exist, but no Nevada case establishes some pre-existing presumption of validity of a petition prior to its challenge by opponents or evaluation by the judiciary. Any plaintiff has the burden of making its case, which Respondents met below, but the ultimate decision on the merits stems from elements and standards for evaluating initiative petitions developed by the Legislature and this Court over many years. The district court agreed with Respondents that, in multiple ways, EFP's Petition did not meet the mandates of law, but the court below did not fail to apply some presumption urged by Appellants, as none exists.

B. The Petition's Description of Effect Is Legally Insufficient

This Court has repeatedly held that "a description of effect must be straightforward, succinct, and non-argumentative, and it must not be deceptive or misleading." *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev.*

Jobs, 129 Nev. 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013). But this is not all the description must be. The purpose of the description is to "prevent voter confusion and promote informed decisions." Nevadans for Nev. v. Beers, 122 Nev. 930, 939, 142 P.3d 339, 345 (2006). Any description of a proposed statutory amendment should fulfill that purpose. Thus, "[t]he importance of the description of effect cannot be minimized, as it is what the voters see when deciding whether to even sign a petition." Coalition for Nevada's Future v. RIP Commerce Tax, Inc., 132 Nev. 956 (2016) (unpublished disposition) (citing Educ. Initiative PAC, 129 Nev. at 37).

The description must also "explain the[] ramifications of the proposed amendment" in order to allow voters to make an informed decision. Nev. Judges Ass'n v. Lau, 112 Nev. 51, 59, 910 P.2d 898, 903 (1996). In other words, this valuable real estate on the signature pages of every single petition page does not require simple recitation of the measure's provisions, but rather a useful explanation of the likely consequences of its enactment. This is, perhaps, difficult to achieve in only 200 words of text, as this Court has also recognized, but it is incumbent upon any petition's proponents to describe effects, to be accurate, and to write in good faith. The description is not merely the

first installment in a political campaign; it is a test of a proponent's seriousness in pursuing lawmaking through the people's legislative capacity.

Although a description need not "explain hypothetical effects" or "mention every possible effect" of the initiative, *Educ. Initiative PAC*, 129 Nev. at 37, it must at very least fairly present enough information for a potential signer to make an informed decision about whether to support the initiative. *See Nev. Judges Ass'n v. Lau*, 112 Nev. at 59 (rejecting initiative's description of effect for "failure to explain [certain] ramifications of the proposed amendment," which "renders the initiative and its explanation potentially misleading").

Here, the Petition's description of effect is deceptive, confusing, *and* misleading, and thus violates each of these requirements.

1. The description fails to explain the impact of the Petition on public education funding, rendering it misleading

Most crucially, as the district court correctly found, the description misleadingly fails to inform potential signatories that any funding appropriated for this program will inevitably reduce the funding otherwise available to public schools. This follows from the provisions of

the Petition, which bases the amount of the grants on "the statewide base per pupil funding amount. See Appellant's Appendix ("AA") at 0049, § 3. Given that these grants are required to be used for educational expenses, it is far from hypothetical to conclude that if funds were to be appropriated by the Legislature for this purpose, they would inevitably result in a reduction of public school funding (as was the case with the Petition's predecessor, SB 320, which resulted in its invalidation by the Nevada Supreme Court in Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev. 732, 382 P.3d 886 (2016)). Certainly, many potential signatories might choose to refrain from signing the Petition if the description informed them of its severe and inevitable impact on Nevada's public school system; such explanation is fundamental to Nevadans' abilities to make informed choices. The district court correctly found the description of effect deficient for its "insufficient explanation of the effect of the initiative on the budgets of all the school districts in the State and/or the need to draw revenues from the General Fund." AA0171.

EFP fails to address the substance of this defect in the description.

Instead, EFP asserts, without any supporting citation to the record, that in finding the description to be deficient for this reason, the district court

was demanding that the "Petition include a description that explained the district judge's policy preference." Op. Brf., at 13. EFP misses the mark. Far from demanding an explanation of his own policy preferences (whatever those may be), in finding that the description failed to sufficiently inform signatories of the effect of the Petition on the budgets of all Nevada school districts or the need to draw revenues from the general fund, the district court properly found the description to be improperly misleading and legally deficient.

2. The description is misleading in numerous other respects

That is not the only deficiency of the description. It also fails to alert potential signatories of an important lack of flexibility in the terms of the measure: Under section 4 of the Petition, when a parent terminates an EFA agreement before the end of a school year, that parent's child "may not receive instruction from a public school in this state until the end of the period for which the last deposit was made into the EFA. *Id.*, at 3, § 4. Nowhere does the Description inform potential signatories that if passed, Nevada children would be *barred from attending public school* under certain circumstances. The rights of school-age children to receive public education in Nevada is inviolate, and the notion that this

Petition would—under circumstance of financial stress or calamity, for example—deny that right to a child and his or her family is, one would think, a crucial aspect of its proposed operation. This omission is highly misleading, and, if disclosed, would likely assist a number of potential signatories in making an informed decision regarding signing the petition.

EFP contends that "the Petition does not bar any Nevada child from enrolling in a public school, [but] ... merely delays enrollment for children whose parents established EFAs for their benefit and are receiving funds under the program." Op. Brf., at 7. This is rank misdirection; such children are indeed barred from attending public school during the period of such "delay." Under applicable Nevada law, this important effect must be explained to a potential signatory in the description of effect. Its exclusion renders the description legally deficient, as the district court properly held. While this may well be a "common-sense policy approach to prevent recipients from both receiving funding while taking advantage of public funded education" as EFP argues (Op. Brf., at 17), that does not make the description of effect any less misleading for failing to inform

Nevadans about.¹ By failing to do so, the proponents are denying potential signatories information that is crucial to their decision whether or not to sign the Petition and support its placement on the ballot.

The description further misleadingly informs potential signatories that "Money in the accounts may be used to pay certain educational expenses including, but not limited to, tuition and fees at participating entities." AA067. This makes it seem that if passed, parents would be able to establish an EFA to supplement their child's public education, by, for example, signing their child up for after-school tutoring, when, in fact, under the proposed statute, an EFA cannot be established for any child "who will remain enrolled full-time in a public school." AA049, § 10. In arguing that this portion of the description is not misleading, EFP points to the language of the proposed statute itself. See Op. Brf., at 18. But that just makes even clearer why the description is impermissibly misleading. It promises that EFA funds can be used "to pay certain educational expenses including, but not limited to, tuition and fees at participating

¹ In a tacit admission of the misleading nature of this omission, EFP submitted an "alternative" description with its brief in district court which added language stating that "[i]f a parent received funds then terminates their account agreement early, their child may not enroll in public school until the next quarter." AA0129.

entities," without limitation, while the language of the proposed statute which EFP points to makes clear that this is not the case. A potential signer reading just the description might be misled into signing the petition based on a misunderstanding fostered by this language, which is contradicted by the text of the proposed statute itself.²

While stating that "nothing in the initiative requires the Legislature to appropriate money to fund the accounts[, and] [i]f no money is appropriated, no funding will be available for the accounts," the description fails to inform potential signatories that *none* of the provisions of the Petition come into effect unless the Legislature makes an appropriation to fund the EFA. *See* AA0066, § 37. This is a clear bait-and-switch, also not appropriate for a description.

The description of effect is misleading and confusing in numerous respects, and is legally insufficient as a result. The district court was correct in not permitting the petition to proceed for this reason, and this ruling should be affirmed.

² Again, in a tacit admission of the misleading nature of this statement in the description, the "alternative description of effect" submitted by EFP below explained that EFA funds cannot be used if a parent's child is in public school full time. AA0129.

C. The Petition Violates The Nevada Constitution's Prohibition On Initiatives That Mandate Unfunded Expenditures

The Petition is also invalid because it mandates numerous expenditures without providing reciprocal revenues in violation of Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution. That provision prohibits any initiative that "makes an appropriation or otherwise requires the expenditure of money, unless such statute or amendment also imposes a sufficient tax, not prohibited by the Constitution, or otherwise constitutionally provides for raising the necessary revenue." Nev. Const. art. 19, § 6. "Section 6 applies to all proposed initiatives, without exception, and does not permit any initiative that fails to comply with the stated conditions." Rogers v. Heller, 117 Nev. 169, 173, 18 P.3d 1034, 1036 (2001). "If the Initiative does not comply with section 6, then the Initiative is void" in its entirety, and the offending provision cannot be severed to render it constitutional. Id. at 173, 177-78. Compliance with Article 19, Section 6's appropriation or expenditure provision is a "threshold content restriction" that may be raised in a pre-election challenge. Herbst Gaming, Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 877, 884, 890 n.38, 141 P.3d 1224, 1229 (2006) (quoting *Rogers*, 117 Nev. at 173).

The Petition fails to impose any taxes or otherwise provide for funding to pay for the grants to be used to fund the EFAs on which the entire contemplated statutory amendment is premised. "Nevada Constitution article 19, section 6 states that the initiative must impose 'a sufficient tax ... or otherwise constitutionally provide[] for raising the necessary revenue." We must give this provision its plain meaning unless the language is ambiguous." *Rogers*, *supra* at 176. Under a plain reading of this constitutional prohibition, the Petition's failure to raise moneys for the grants on which the entire statutory scheme contemplated by the initiative is premised is a fatal flaw, rendering the Petition void in its entirety.

EFP's argument that the Petition does not create an unfunded mandate, because it only comes into effect if the Legislature appropriates funding for the grants fails for several reasons. First, under the plain reading of Article 19, section 6, the same statute that requires the expenditure of moneys must also appropriate the necessary moneys to fund such expenses. As the district court correctly noted, Article 19, Section 6 provides that "This Section ... does not permit a proposal of any statute or statutory amendment which ... recognizes the expenditure of

money, unless SUCH statute ... imposes a sufficient tax ... or ... otherwise ... provides for raising the necessary revenues." AA0174 (emphasis added by district court). As the district court further correctly noted, Article 19, section 6 "says nothing about the right or latitude to postpone funding to a date out in the future, which will require forging yet another statute." *Id.* (emphasis added by district court). Given this plain constitutional mandate, the necessary appropriation cannot be severed from the statutory provision requiring the expenses and foisted on the Legislature, as the Petition attempts to do. The Petition is defective for this additional reason, as the district court properly held.

And it is important to note that the grants contemplated by the Petition are not the only expenditures required by the initiative. If passed, the Petition would obligate the State Treasurer to essentially set up, administer, run the program, and monitor the use of the EFAs and the performance of the financial institutions managing such EFAs. See § II.D, infra. The Petition does not impose any taxes or otherwise raise any revenue to pay for the substantial expenses that will necessarily be incurred in carrying out these foregoing numerous and burdensome tasks.

D. The Petition Improperly Includes Administrative Details

"[R]egardless whether an initiative proposes enactment of a new statute or ordinance, or a new provision in the constitution or city charter, or an amendment to any of these types of laws, it must propose policy—it may not dictate administrative details." Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rts., Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 894, 913, 141 P.3d 1235, 1248 (2006). This is because "[t]he people's initiative power is 'coequal, coextensive, and concurrent' with that of the Legislature; thus, the people have power that is legislative in nature," (id. at 914), and administrative details are determined not by the Legislature, "but by [other] entities with rulemaking authority, which fill in administrative details pertaining to the policy articulated in legislation." *Id.* EFP's argument that the prohibition against administrative details only applies to constitutional amendments and does not extend to statutory initiatives has thus been resoundingly rejected by this Court.

Even a cursory review of the Petition here makes clear that it goes far beyond the articulation of policy and imposes a host of administrative duties on the State Treasurer and Department of Education.

For example, if enacted, the State Treasurer would be required to

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